SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL GIBBS,

Petitioner,

AUG 2 1996 CLEFNE, SCHOMMER COURT

CASE NO. 88,409

VS .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

J

Respectfully submitted

Jonathan Jay Kirschner, Esquire KIRSCHNER & GARLAND, P.A. Florida Bar No. 407577 102 N. Second Street Fort Pierce, FL 34950 (407) 489-2200 Attorney for Appellant

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL	GIBBS,
--------	--------

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 88,409

VS .

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Counsel for Appellant, DANIEL GIBBS, certifies that the following persons and entities have or may have an interest in the outcome of this case:

STATEMENT OF CASE

DANIEL **GIBBS** was arrested on April **10**, **1991** and subsequently charged by Information on April **30**, **1991** with one (1) count of trafficking in cocaine (Count I); one (1) count of possession of narcotics paraphernalia (Count II); one (1) count of assault on a law enforcement officer (Count 111); and one (1)count of refusal to sign a traffic citation (Count IV) (**R917-918**). An Amended Information subsequently was filed on June **5**, **1994** adding Count V for possession of cocaine. (**R928-930**). At the conclusion of trial on December **5**, 1991 the jury found Appellant guilty on Counts I, **11**, IV and V. Appellant **was** acquitted of Count III. (**R1429-1430**)

A sentencing hearing was held on March 3, **1992**, wherein Appellant was adjudicated guilty in Counts I, 11, IV and V. The trial court additionally found Appellant to be an habitual offender, and accordingly sentenced him in Count I to thirty (**30**) years in the Department of Corrections with a three (**3**) year minimum mandatory sentence, and in Count V to ten (**10**) years in the Department of Corrections to run consecutive to the sentence imposed in Count I. (**R905-906**); (**R1499-1515**).

Appellant timely appealed the judgment of conviction and sentence, and same was affirmed per curiam by The Fourth District Court of Appeal on August **11**, **1993**. (**R1643**-**1644**).

Appellant subsequently filed his pro se Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus, and on March **24**, **1994**, the Fourth District Court of Appeal entered it Order granting said Petition to the extent of permitting Appellant to "file an appeal and brief the issue of whether his constitutional right against double jeopardy was violated by his dual convictions and sentences for trafficking in cocaine (Count I) and possession of cocaine (Count V).

- + -

On June 19, 1996 the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued its en *banc* opinion affirming the convictions and sentences for trafficking and possession, and certified to this Court the following question of great public importance:

May a person be separately convicted and punished for trafficking possession of cocaine and simple possession of a controlled substance for the same quantity σ cocaine?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

. . . .

On April **10**, **1991**, Martin County Deputy Sheriff Restrelli was "working radar" on **1-95** near the Hobe Sound overpass. **(R219)**. Deputy Restrelli observed Appellant's BMW traveling northbound at an excessive rate of speed. (R220). Restrelli initially estimated the vehicle was traveling at 75mph, and subsequently confirmed a speed of 76mph with radar **(R220)**.

Restrelli testified that Appellant pulled over to the side of the roadway and stopped prior to any attempt by the Deputy to initiate a traffic stop, (R224). Restrelli retrieved Appellant's driver's license and "ran" the driver's license number through dispatch (R235-236). The Deputy was advised by the radio dispatcher that Appellant's license had been suspended on December 26, 1990. (R236). Restrelli placed Appellant under arrest for driving with a suspended license. (R236). After handcuffing Appellant, Deputy Restrelli noticed Appellant was holding a piece of cellophane in his hand. (R237; 262; 280-281).

Subsequent to the arrest and while still at the scene, Restrelli and Deputy Moore conducted **a** search of Appellant's vehicle and located a white paper bag hidden behind the rear seat center armrest. (R257-260; 376-380). Inside the white paper bag was a "cellophane-wrapped" object, which the officers, based upon their experience and a "field test", determined to be the controlled substance cocaine. (R260-261).

Robert Parsons, an expert in forensic chemistry, testified that the cellophane recovered from Appellant's hand (Trial Exhibit No. 21) contained cocaine residue (R362). Parsons further opined that the white powder substance obtained from the white paper bag

recovered from the BMW likewise was cocaine, and that the total weight of same was 151 grams (R364-365).

. .

Appellant below argued the cocaine was "planted" in the vehicle by Deputies Moore and Restrelli. (R813-824).

The trial court sentenced Appellant as an habitual offender to thirty (**30**) years in the Department of Corrections in Count I (trafficking), and ten (10) years as an habitual offender in Count V (simple possession) to run consecutive with the trafficking sentence (**R903-908; 1499-1515**). Additionally, Appellant in Count II (possession of paraphernalia) was sentenced to one (**1**) year in the Martin County Jail consecutive to the sentences imposed in Counts I and V. In Count IV (refusal to sign traffic citation), Appellant was sentenced to sixty (60) days time served (**R906-907; 1499-1515**).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

• •

Appellant was in exclusive possession of a vehicle subjected to **a** traffic stop on **1-95**. As a result of the stop, Appellant was arrested for driving with a suspended license. At the point of arrest, a cellophane wrapper with cocaine residue on it was recovered from Appellant's person. A subsequent search of the vehicle yielded a cache of cocaine (151 grams) secreted behind the rear seat center armrest.

Appellant was charged and convicted of simple possession of cocaine for the cellophane wrapper residue, and trafficking for the cocaine recovered from the car. Dual convictions for trafficking possession and simple possession of the same quantity of cocaine, however, are violative of the double jeopardy prohibitions of both the Florida and United States Constitutions.

<u>POINT I</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY CONVICTING APPELLANT OF TRAFFICKING AND SIMPLE POSSESSION OF THE SAME QUANTITY OF COCAINE

The United States Supreme Court has stated that an individual is protected against multiple punishments for the same offense. *Brown v. Ohio*, 432 U.S. 161 (1977). It is likewise axiomatic that the State may prosecute and obtain convictions for separate offenses even though they arise from a single episode or transaction. Blockburger v. *United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932); *State v. Smith*, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989).

Blockburger established the rule that two offenses are separate and distinct if each contains an essential element that the other does not. The Blockburger rule has been codified in Section **775.021(4)**, Fla.Stat. **(1995)**, and is subject to certain exceptions. The parameters of those exceptions must be examined in order to ascertain whether given offenses are "separate" for purposes of determining whether the double jeopardy clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions are violated by dual convictions.

A mere mechanistic recitation of the Blockburger rule is insufficient to assist courts in making that determination, because it fails to address the additional statutory exceptions established by the legislature in Section 775.021(4), Fla. Stat. (1995) See: Bell *v. State*, 437 So.2d 1057, 1058 (Fla. 1983).

Chapter 775.021(4), Fla. Stat. (1995) provides:

(a) Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

۰ ،

(b) The intent of the legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principal of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:

- 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.
- 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
- 3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

Appellant asserts that his dual convictions not only survive traditional Blockburger analysis, but also fall within each of the statutory exceptions enumerated in Section 775.021(4)(b) 1through 3, Fla. Stat. (1995), thus rendering dual convictions for trafficking and possession of the same quantity of cocaine impermissible.

In the instant **case**, Appellant was arrested during a traffic stop for driving with a suspended license. (R236) While being handcuffed, the arresting officer discovered a piece of cellophane wrapping in Appellant's hand. (R237; 262; 280-281) During a subsequent search of the vehicle, a cellophane wrapped package containing one hundred fifty one (151) grams of cocaine was discovered secreted behind the rear center arm rest. (R257-260; 376-380). As to the trafficking charge, at trial below the prosecution proceeded solely on the theory that Appellant "trafficked" by actually or constructively possessing the contraband.

The essence of traditional Blockburger analysis is to examine the elements of each statutory offense, and if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, then to allow dual convictions. At the time of Appellants, arrest, Florida's trafficking statute provided:

Any person who knowingly sells, purchases, manufactures, delivers, or brings into this State, *or who is knowingly in actual or constructive possession of*, 28 grams or more of cocaine...commits a felony of the first degree, which felony shall be known as "trafficking in cocaine. [emphasis added]

Section 893.135 (l)(b,) Fla.Stat. (1989). The simple possession statute provided:

It is unlawful for any person to be in actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance...Any person who violates this provision is guilty of a felony of the third degree..,

Section 893. 13(1)(f), Fla. Stat. (1989).

• • •

Although the trafficking statute permits prosecutions based upon several alternative theories, i.e., by delivery, purchase, manufacture, etc., in the instant case the *exclusive* theory relied upon by the State was that Appellant's trafficking was based upon actual or constructive possession. To be sure, *Blockburger* and its progeny mandate that double jeopardy analysis be limited to comparing the statutory elements of the crimes, and not to the charging documents or the evidence adduced at trial. *Blockburger v. United States, 284* U.S. 299 (1932); *State v. Baker*, 456 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1984) Where statutes provide for distinct alternative theories of prosecution however, review of the charging instruments and evidence presented at trial is unavoidable. The elements of trafficking by possession per Sec. 893.135(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1989) are merely those of simple possession pursuant to Sec. 893.13(1)(f), Fla. Stat. (1989) with the additional component of a minimum contraband weight equal or greater than twenty-eight (28) grams. Because simple possession does not

require proof of any element not present in trafficking by possession, traditional *Blockburger* analysis and Sec. 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1995) prohibit dual convictions of those crimes.

Florida's statutory scheme however, injects further criteria for evaluation. The legislature has crafted three (3) additional tiers of analysis to wit., Section 775.021(4)(b) 1, 2 and 3, Fla. Stat. (1995) in order to assist courts in determining whether offenses should be considered separate for purposes of jeopardy analysis. See: *Sirmons v. State*, 634 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1994) Kogan, concurring.

The Sec. **775.021(4)(b) 1.**, Fla. Stat. (1995) exception applies to offenses which require ('identical elements of proof''. As stated previously, the prosecution below proceeded solely on the theory of trafficking by actual or constructive possession. No evidence was presented supporting any other theory of trafficking.

But for the additional requirement of a minimum weight of twenty-eight (28) grams, the elements of trafficking by possession and simple possession are identical, and therefore within the exception enumerated in Sec. 775.021(4)(b) 1., Fla. Stat. (1995).

Section 775.021(4)(b) 2., Fla. Stat. (1995) applies to offenses "which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute". This Court has interpreted that provision to prohibit simultaneous convictions of offenses which are simply "aggravated forms of the same underlying offense distinguished only by degree factors". *Sirmons v. State, 634* So.2d 153, 154 (Fla. 1994)

In *Sirmons*, the Defendant was convicted of grand theft of an automobile pursuant to Chapter 812.014(2)(c)4, Fla. Stat. (1989) and robbery with a weapon pursuant to Chapter 812.13(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989). The convictions arose from a single taking of an automobile

at knife point. *Sirmons, Id.* at 153. In quashing the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, this Court found that dual convictions of offenses which are aggravated forms of the same underlying or core offense, distinguished only by degree factors, are impermissible. *Sirmons, Id.* at 154. *Also see, State v. Thompson,* 607 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1992) [Defendant cannot be convicted of both fraudulent sale of a counterfeit controlled substance and felony petit theft]; *Johnson v. State, 597* So.2d 798 (Fla. 1992) [Dual convictions for grand theft of cash and a firearm barred].

Trafficking in cocaine is merely an aggravated form of the underlying offense of actual or constructive possession of cocaine. The core offense is possession of cocaine, a third degree felony. Sec. **893.13(1)(f)**, Fla. Stat. (1989) If one possesses from twenty-eight (28) to two-hundred (200) grams of the contraband, the offense is (was) aggravated to a first degree felony punishable by a three (3) year minimum mandatory sentence. Sec. **893.135(1)(b)1.a.**, Fla. Stat. (1989) "Simple" possession of amounts exceeding two-hundred (200) grams are successively aggravated by additional fines and minimum mandatory prison sentences. Sec **893.135(1)(b)1. b** and c., Fla. Stat. (1989).

Because trafficking in this instance is merely an aggravated form of the underlying offense of possession distinguished only by degree factors, the exception framed in Sec. 775.021(4)(b) 2., Fla. Stat. (1995). likewise applies to Appellant, and prohibits dual convictions.

The Sec. 775.021(4)(b) 3., Fla. Stat. (1995) exception applies to those offenses "which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense". This provision applies to those crimes that are cognizable as permissive lesser included offenses, based upon the accusatory pleadings and evidence adduced at trial. *Sirmons v. State, 634* So.2d 153, 155 (Fla. 1994) Kogan, concurring; Also see: *State v. Weller, 590* So.2d 923, 926 (Fla. 1992); *Wilcott v. State,* 509 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1987) The State below presented, and the evidence adduced at trial supported, a theory of trafficking based solely upon actual or constructive possession of the contraband. Simple possession thus was cognizable as a permissive lesser included offense, and the Sec. 775.021(4)(b) 3., Fla. Stat. (1995) exception prohibiting dual convictions would apply.

· . .

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and citation to authority, Appellant requests this Court to vacate Appellant's conviction and sentence for simple possession of cocaine in this cause.

<u>CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE</u>

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been furnished by U.S. Mail this 1st day of August, 1996 to Carol Cobourn Asbury, Assistant Attorney General, Third Floor, 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard, West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-2299, and to Daniel E. Gibbs, Sr., #902870 M.B. #558, Avon Park Correctional Institution, Post Office Box 1100, Avon Park, Florida 338251100.