IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA,

AUG 26 1996

DANIEL GIBBS,

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 88,409

ON PETITION FOR **DISCRETIONARY** REVIEW BASED ON **CONFLICT**

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

GEORGINA JIMENEZOROSA Assistant **Attorney General** Florida **Bar #4415**10

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0393665 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

CASE NO.: 88.409 DANIEL GIBBS v. STATE OF FLORIDA

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS - 1
SUMMARY ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
Petitioner's DOUBLE JEOPARDY RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BY HIS DUAL CONVICTIONS OF POSSESSION OF COCAINE AND TRAFFICKING IN COCAINE WHERE THE CONVICTIONS ARISE OUT OFDIFFERENT EVIDENCE
CONCLUSION - 19
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE - 19

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Cited Page Num	
Sirmons y, State, 634 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 1994)	- 11 -
Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 304 L.Ed. 2d 306 (1932)	9-
Carawa n v. State, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987)	16 _
<u>Chikitus v. Shands</u> , 373 So. 2d 904 (Fla. 1979).	17-
<u>v. State</u> , 626 So. 2d 1364 Fla. 1993)	• 13•
Gibbs-y. State, 21 Fla. Law Weekly D1414 (Fla 4th DCA June 19,1996)	• 10 -
Jackson v. State, 418 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982)	16 _
Johnson v. State, 538 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989)	16 _
Lundy v. State, 596 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)	16 _
Peterson v. State, 645 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)	11 -
State v. McCloud 577 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1991).	- 11-
<u>State v. Smith</u> , 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989) .	16 _
<u>United States v. Shaid</u> , 730 F. 2d 225 (5th Cir. 1984)	9 -
W.B.M. v. State, 452 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984)	16 _

Statutes Cited

Section 775.021(4)(b), Florida Statutes	 - 12 -

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the prosecution and petitioner was the defendant **in** the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Martin, Florida.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before **this** Court, except that the Respondent may also be referred to as "State" or "Prosecution."

The following symbols will be used;

AB = Petitioner's Initial Brief

R = Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitia er, Daniel Gibbs, was charged by an Information alleging in Count I, trafficking in cocaine on April 10,1991 by knowingly having in his actual or constructive possession twenty-eight (28) grams or more but less than two hundred grams of cocaine or any mixture thereof, Count **11**, possession of drug paraphernalia, Count 111, assault on a law enforcement officer, Count **IV**, refusal to **sign** a citation, and Count **V**, possession of cocaine. R 53-55,917-918. A **jury** trial was held on December **3**, 1991.

Decity Sal Rastrelli works for the Martin County Sheriffs Office. R 215. On April 10,1991 he was working on road patrol on 1-95. R 217. At about 8:30 in the morning he was running radar on a BMW on the north side of the Hobe Sound overpass. R 219. He clocked the speed of the vehicle as 76 miles per hour. R 220. Deputy Rastrelli is required to keep a log and ticket number in case any one wants to challenge a speed or a ticket. R 228. The log was published to the jury showing the location of the Petitioner's vehicle, the tag number, the speed of the vehicle and the posted speed on the road and **all** the internal tests and the ticket number. R 229.

Rastrelli turned onto 1-95 to pursued Petitioner and began to pace the vehicle. R **230.** The vehicle slowed down considerably and Rastrelli could see Petitioner waving **his** arms about frantically in the car. R **230.** Petitioner then pulled abruptly off the road before Rastrelli turned on his blue lights to initiate a traffic stop. R 230. Rastrelli pulled in behind the Petitioner. R **230.** Petitioner jumped out of the car and began waiving **his** arms and cursing and screaming at Rastrelli. R 231,235. Rastrelli tried to calm him down by telling Petitioner that all he wanted to do was see he driver's license so that he could write a ticket. R **235.** Petitioner handed Rastrelli his driver's license. R **235.** Petitioner then turned and opened the trunk of the car and **said**, "Go ahead and search it, I know that's

<u>-1-</u>

what you want to do." R **235.** Rastrelli declined stating that all he wanted to do was write a ticket. R **235-236**. The Petitioner's license was found to be suspended. R **236**. Rastrelli informed Petitioner that he was under arrest for driving with a suspended license. R **236**. Petitioner resisted arrest, R **236**. Petitioner was handcuffed and placed in the back of the patrol car. R **236**.

Petitioner had a wallet in his hand and a piece of paper and cellophane "clenched" in his hands. R 236,237. Rastrelli took the wallet and put it in Petitioner's front shirt pocket. R 237. He had some difficulty getting Petitioner to relinquish the paper and cellophane but eventually got that out of Petitioner's hand too. R 237. This later turned out to have cocaine residue on it.

There was nobody else in the BMW with the Petitioner. R 239.

Rastrelli wrote a speeding ticket to Petitioner. R 242. Petitioner refused to sign the speeding ticket. R 242. Petitioner continued to be belligerent. R 243. Petitioner refused to signed the ticket for driving with a suspended driver's license also. R **243**.

Deputy Moore arrived on the scene. R 255. A search incident an arrest for inventory purposes commenced. R 257. Deputy Moore began on the passenger side of the car. He called Rastrelli's attention to **an** area under the rug on the passenger side about a six inches by six **inches** square cut out and about two inches deep. R 258. Both recognized it has **an** area where drugs **or** contraband are usually concealed. R 258. There was a screwdriver under the seat and a heavy scent in the car. The cut out area, the screwdriver and the heavy scent indicated **an** attempt to conceal drugs. R **258**. After seeing this, both Deputy Rastrelli and Deputy Moore were inclined to believe there was contraband in the vehicle. R **258**.

Deputy Moor went to the rear seat of the vehicle to commence a search of that area. R 259. In the center of the rear car seat was an arm rest that folds down. R **259**.

<u>- 2 -</u>

Deputy Moore reached down where the arm rest was in the center. R 259. There is a vinyl flap there. R 259. Behind the flap, **Deputy** reached down and produced a white bag, a paper bag. R 260. Inside the bag was a cellophane wrapped object. R 260. What looked like Bounty type fabric **softener**was inside the bag. This is also indicative of drugs. R 260. Inside the fabric softener was two ziploc type bags, R 260. Inside the two ziplock bags was cocaine. R 261. The Petitioner was **informed** that he was under arrest at that point for trafficking in cocaine. R 261. It was later marked as Exhibit 1.

The cellophane that was in the Petitioner's hand was placed in a separate bag. R 261. This was later marked as Exhibit 21.

Photographs of the car and evidence were admitted into evidence. R 264-268. Picture 7 and 8 were of the back seat arm rest where the cocaine was hidden. Picture 6 and 9 were of the cocaine wrapped in fabric softener.

Duck tape was found in the car, this is usually used to conceal narcotics if it has been put in a fabricated hole like the one found in Petitioner's car. R **271. A** radar detector was on the dashboard of the **BMW**. R **272-276**.

After Petitioner was placed under arrest and put in the patrol car he made some statements to Rastrelli. R **286.** These statements were made after Rastrelli returned to inform Petitioner that he was under arrest for trafficking in cocaine. R **287.** Petitioner said, "Huh-uh, you planted that. I saw you take something out **of** your **[shirt]** pocket and throw it in the car." R **287.** Several minutes later Petitioner changed his story and said that it came out of Rastrelli's pant's pocket. R **287.** It was obviously too big a bag of cocaine to have come out of Rastrelli's shirt pocket. R **287.**

At the point that Rastrelli arrested Petitioner for trafficking in cocaine, Petitioner also made

<u>- 3 -</u>

a statement that if he was toting cocaine it would have been chunk and not powder shit. R **289.** At that point the Petitioner had not seen the contents of the bag of cocaine which was closed up so that he had no way of seeing through the paper and wrapping. R **289.** There was no way he would have known that there was powder in that bag that was found in the back seat of the car. R **290.**

On the way to the jail Petitioner said, "I thought it was you, but I've been having trouble with the car lately." Petitioner works on the car and keeps the car at his residence. Petitioner said that he had been having trouble with the car, motor problems and wiring problems. Petitioner said that he thinks a neighbor was out to get him and that must have been where the cocaine came from. R **288.**

Petitioner specifically said that he kept the vehicle at his residence. R 288.

On cross examination, Rastrelli testified that the registration indicated that the owner **of** the vehicle was one Antonio Ovietto. R **303.** It was not until the Petitioner was out of the car that Restrelli saw the cellophane and the white paper in Petitioner's hand. R **304.** The crumpled up paper and cellophane did not have any meaning to him. R 305. It was discovered that Petitioner's license was suspended indefinitely. R **307.**

On cross examination, Rastrelli testified that in 1990, Thanksgiving 1990 he recalled stopping Petitioner in the same **1979** BMW vehicle on I-95. R **319**. It was a holiday weekend. R **320**. Petitioner was driving. R **320**. Petitioner was stopped for following too closely in a pack of cars -he was bumper to bumper with another car. R **320**. Rastrelli got Petitioner's license. R **323**. Rastrelli gave Petitioner a verbal warning. R **323**. Petitioner told Rastrelli at that time that he used to traffic in drugs but did not do it any more. R **323-324**. Another patrol car drove up. R **324**. Petitioner and Rastrelli went to the back of the vehicle to talk. The passenger got out and joined

<u>- 4 -</u>

them. R **324.** The passenger was very nervous -- shaking his arms, his **legs**, he seemed to be very, very nervous for no apparent reason. R **325.** A dog sniffed the car. Nothing was found. Petitioner said, "See, I told you, there is nothing there. I don't **do** that any more." R **327**

The bag of cocaine weighed 151 grams. R 340.

On redirect, Rastrelli again testified that he stopped the Petitioner on Thanksgiving weekend in November, 1990 in the <u>same car he was driving on April 10,1991</u>, R **346**.

Robert Parsons, Jr. testified as a forensic chemist with the Regional Crime Lab in Fort Pierce. R **356.** The paper **from** Petitioner's hand, State's Exhibit **21**, tested positive for cocaine. R **362.**

The substance found in the paper bag, State's Exhibit 1, found in the car also tested positive for cocaine. This was a large amount of powdered cocaine. R **363-364.** The weight of the cocaine found in the car was 151 grams. R **365.**

Deputy Moore testified that he assisted Deputy Rastrelli, who was having problems with Petitioner . R **370.** Deputy Rastrelli's patrol car was parked behind Petitioner's blue colored BMW. R **371,** Moore and Rastrelli searched the car. R **372.** Moore found **a** cut out area on the floor of the front passenger seat. R **372-373**. Moore peeled back the carpet and found a cut out cavity under the carpet. R **273.** Next to the gear shift lever was a can of scent. R **373.** In his experience this **was** used to mask the order of contraband. R **374-375.**

Moore then began searching the back seat of the luxury BMW. R **376.** He noticed that the bench seat in the back was not securely clamped to the floor of the luxury BMW. R **376.** Deputy Moore then looked at back flap of the back seat center arm rest, which could be pulled forward to reveal the inner upholstery of the back seat. R **377.** There he found a bag which smelled like laundry detergent. R **378.** Within the paper bag was a double layer ziploc plastic bag that **was** wrapped up

in Bounce or some other brand of fabric softener sheets. R 379. Inside that was a lump of white powder substance which looked like cocaine. R 379. Field tested positive for cocaine. R 380.

After the state rested the defense counsel moved for a Judgment of Acquittal. R 393. He argued that the State had failed to prove knowledge on the part of Petitioner in regard to the drugs found in the back seat of the vehicle. R 393. Defense counsel conceded that Petitioner was the only person present at the time of the stop. R 394. Defense counsel argued that other people had access to the car. R 396,402. Another person owned the car. R 402.

Defense counsel also argued that judgment of acquittal must be granted as to the cocaine found in the hands of Petitioner, Count V, because traces of drugs are prevalent on commonly used items. R 397. As to Count V, Possession of cocaine, the trial judge held that there was a prima facie case for actual possession of the item that was in Petitioner's hand and had traces of cocaine on it. R 397.

The State argued that there is no evidence that this is a joint constructive possession case. R 403. This is a single possession case. Knowledge may be inferred by and may be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence. R 403-404. The circumstantial evidence shows that Petitioner was in the sole possession of the car at the time of the traffic stop; there is no evidence that the owner, dead or alive, was in possession of the car or had access to the car; Petitioner also possessed the car in November, 1990, when he was stopped for another **traffic** violation. R 404.

In addition, Petitioner's statements to Rastrelli indicated that he had direct knowledge of the drugs in the back set of the vehicle. R 404. He gave a number of explanations for the existence of the cocaine: (1) First he said the Rastrelli took it out of his shirt pocket, (2) then he said that Rastrelli took it out of his pants pocket, and (3) finally he said that someone else put it there. Petitioner also

<u>- 6 -</u>

told Rastrelli that if he was trafficking in cocaine it would be chunk cocaine not powder cocaine. This proves Petitioner consciousness of guilt since he could not have seen that the cocaine in that back seat was powdered cocaine, therefore, he had to have known that it was powdered cocaine. R 405.

The trial court held as follows:

And if you will look at all the evidence, again not dealing with the issue of credibility because that's what the jury must decide, or of weight, but in dealing with just the evidence that's been introduced to see if there is a prima facie case here for constructive possession. And looking at everything, there is the testimony concerning the fact of being a former trafficker, but not being a trafficker currently. If the jury believes that, they could believe that the -- that your client knew what cocaine would look like. Second, there is the can of scent. Third, there was the testimony of belligerence. In addition, we have a bit of a different situation from MWW in that in this case if the jury believes the testimony, they will also have testimony concerning actual possession of some cocaine residue in your client's hand as testified to by the officer. In addition there are the statements in evidence, again this is all testimony, I'm not placing -- making any weight determination. But the testimony about the differing statements about who might have planted the cocaine, or it if was planted by the deputy, where he received it from.

Also, the testimony about the 1990 traffic stop really cuts two ways, it's a two edged sword. First of all, it does obviously play into the Defense's theory of the case and gives the Defense the ability to argue that theory. But second of all, it places Mr. Gibbs in possession of the vehicle on more than one occasion, There was also testimony that Mr. Gibbs apparently had the car at his house and did electrical work on the car.

And without question, the strongest piece of evidence dealing on the constructive possession issue and the question of knowledge is the statement if believed by the jury that if he were going to **traffic** in that stuff that it would not be powder, it would be chunk. And the fact of the, I should say the testimony of the officer that at least at this point there has been no testimony that Mr. Gibbs would of had the ability to see the item before making that statement.

So in looking at the totality of all the evidence, I think there is evidence here that distinguishes this situation from your usual constructive possession case where there is nothing but either two individuals in a location with hidden drugs, or the MWW situation where you had one person who had been at least at some point in joint custody.

So, I will deny the Motion as it relates to Count I

trafficking.

In addition, as it related to Count II, I'm reviewing the knowledge question that same way since basically we're talking about the same situation of the same items tucked away behind the arm rest in the rear seat.

R 406-408.

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal did not err in holding that a defendant may be convicted of both simple possession and trafficking in cocaine without violating the dictates against double jeopardy based on this Court's ruling in <u>State v. McCloud</u> 577 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 1991). Even if this Court were to reverse itself, the petitioner would still be convicted of the two crimes as each criminal incident arose from different facts.

"Multiplicity" is the charging of a single offense in more than one count. "The test for determining whether the same act or transaction constitutes two offenses or only one is whether conviction under each statutory provision requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not." <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180, 304 L.Ed. 2d 306 (1932). Nevertheless, "[w]hether a continuous transaction results in the commission of but a single offense or separate offenses . . is determined by whether separate and distinct prohibited acts, made punishable by law, have been committed." United States v. Shaid, 730 F. 2d 225, 23 1 (5th Cir. 1984). In the instant case, the simple possession count arose out of the fact and evidence of the cocaine laced cellophane wrapping taken from Petitioner's hand after he was arrested and the trafficking count arose out of the package of cocaine wrapped in fabric softener hidden behind the flap of the back seat arm rest. Petitioner denied any knowledge of the package of cocaine found in the back seat of his vehicle. The counts are not multiplicious since the elements and facts of each substantive count are different from those of the other count charged. Where there is separate evidence of the two offenses, the offenses have not merged under the "Different Evidence Test.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner'S DOUBLE JEOPARDY RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BY HIS DUAL CONVICTIONS OF POSSESSION OF COCAINE AND TRAFFICKING IN COCAINE WHERE THE CONVICTIONS ARISE OUT OF DIFFERENT EVIDENCE

In the instant case, the Petitioner was charged and convicted of possession of cocaine for the cellophane wrapper residue recovered from his hand **after** he was arrested. Petitioner was also charged and convicted of trafficking in cocaine for the 15 1 grams of powdered cocaine found in plastic bags wrapped in fabric softener sheets hidden in the back of the back seat arm rest. Petitioner argues that his double jeopardy rights were violated for the dual convictions. Petitioner contends that he cannot be convicted of the two offenses based upon contemporaneous possession of cocaine found of a given kind. He does not argued that the cocaine on the cellophane and the package of cocaine found behind the flap of the back seat arm rest were the same cocaine.

Respondent will proceed based on two theories. First, Respondent agrees with the majority's opinion and reasoning set forth in <u>Gibbs v. State</u>, 21 Fla. Law Weekly D1414 (Fla 4th DCA June 19, 1996). In other words, no double jeopardy violation arises from separate convictions and punishments for offenses of trafficking in cocaine and simple possession of the same cocaine. Second, petitioner could be convicted of these two separate and distinct acts of possession. One, the cocaine found on the cellophane wrapper clutched in his fist, discover in the course of placing him in handcuffs; two, for the trafficking amount found in baggies wrapped in fabric softener sheets hidden in the back seat of the car. There is no evidence that the two are related. That, together with the petitioner's statements, and his defense, denying knowledge of the secreted stash in the back seat, while at the same time acknowledging concealment of the cellophane wrapper in his hand, distinguish

<u>- 10 -</u>

this case **from** the cases relied upon by the petitioner. [See, Judge Stone's opinion, concurring in part and dissenting in part]

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